#### **RECEIVED**

05-30-2019

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

**DISTRICT IV** 

Case No. 2019 AP 520-CR
STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,
RICHARD A. BOIE,
Defendant-Appellant.
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

#### MILLER APPELLATE PRACTICE, LLC

Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant By Steven L. Miller #1005582 P.O. Box 655 River Falls, WI 54022 (715) 425-9780

On appeal from the Circuit Court of Clark County, Hon. Jon M. Counsel and Hon. Thomas W. Clark, Circuit Judges, presiding.

####

#### **ISSUES FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it admitted a testimonial video without applying at least two of the criterion for admissibility under Wis. Stat. § 908.08: whether the declarant was available to testify and whether the defendant would be deprived of a fair opportunity to meet the allegations in the prior statement?

The Trial Court Answered: "No."

2. Was Boie denied the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to move for a mistrial after B.E.H. testified she could not remember any of the sexual assault allegations she made in the video played to the jury?

The Trial Court Answered: The court did not address this issue. Boie's postconviction motion was denied pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(i).

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. Publication is not requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

Blake Boie obtained overnight and weekend visits with his daughter, B.E.H. (d.o.b. 10/22/2008) in June of 2013 after a long and contentious custody dispute with B.E.H.'s mother, Paige Heath. (204:249, 252, 257, 266, 291). Even then, Paige only partially complied with the agreement, forcing Blake to obtain an additional court order in December of 2013. (204:295, 297, 307). During overnight visits, Blake's grandparents, Carol Boie and the defendant, Richard Boie, provided occasional childcare for B.E.H. when Blake was working. (204:234).

On January 29, 2015 B.E.H.'s maternal grandmother, Therese Heath, asked B.E.H. if she was "excited" to see "Grandma Carol" and "Grandpa Rich" in an upcoming visit. B.E.H. answered "no." (190:115, 116). When Therese asked why, B.E.H. stated grandpa "kisses me hard." (190:117). Therese asked B.E.H. what else grandpa does and she answered, "you know," gesturing towards her pelvic area. (190:117-118). Therese then asked her to color a picture showing what she and grandpa do. B.E.H. drew a picture of her and Boie in bed with Boie's pants down. (190:119-121; 106).

Therese reported this conversation to her daughter Paige. (190:124). On January 30, 2015, Paige contacted the Thorp Police Department. (190:4). Paige had not noticed any behavioral changes in B.E.H. prior to the allegations. (204:318).

<sup>1</sup> The Statement of the Case and the Statement of Facts are combined.

While Boie is often referred to as "Grandpa Rich," he is actually B.E.H.'s great grandfather.

The police arranged for B.E.H. to be questioned by Michelle Harris, a forensic interviewer with the Chippewa Valley Child Advocacy Center. The video-recorded interview took place on February 3, 2015 (192: 182, 208-244). Police did not participate directly in the interview but observed it and provided questions. (191:17; 204:158-159). There is no dispute the interview is testimonial.

B.E.H. told Harris her Grandpa Rich "does stuff that isn't appropriate." (192:218). This occurs at Grandpa Rich's house, in his bedroom and sometimes upstairs. (192:218, 222). He takes off his pants and makes her take off her pants. (192:220, 233). He "wiggles" his "butt," which she described as his front, on her "whole body" and on her "butt," which she described as where she goes potty. She said it felt "squirmy," and sometimes it hurt. (192:221, 222, 224, 225, 231). He also kissed her on the lips and "inside" her "butt," and puts his hand inside her "butt." (192:225, 226, 228)

B.E.H. did not give a timeframe or identify the number of occasions. It did not happen every visit, only "sometimes." (192:238). "More than once." (192:213, 232).

On February 5, 2015, B.E.H. was examined by Kristen Iniguez, a physician in the child advocacy center at the Marshfield Clinic. (192:128). A full medical examination with testing showed no evidence of trauma or anything else indicative of sexual assault. (192:132, 150, 151, 162, 169-170). B.E.H. had no difficulty concentrating, remembering, or making decisions. (192:144).

Boie was charged more than a year later. On June 27, 2016, the State filed a complaint alleging one count of repeated sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1)(d), during the period of February 25, 2013 to December 21, 2014. (2).

On February 8, 2017, the State sought admission of the February 3, 2015 interview pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 908.08<sup>3</sup>. (13:1 A:8)). The statutory criterion were met, the State alleged, because:

Wis. Stat. § 908.08 states in relevant part:

#### Audiovisual recordings of statements of children.

- (1) In any criminal trial or hearing, juvenile fact-finding hearing under s. 48.31 or 938.31 or revocation hearing under s. 302.113 (9) (am), 302.114 (9) (am), 304.06 (3), or 973.10 (2), the court or hearing examiner may admit into evidence the audiovisual recording of an oral statement of a child *who is available to testify*, as provided in this section.
- (2) (a) Not less than 10 days before the trial or hearing, or such later time as the court or hearing examiner permits upon cause shown, the party offering the statement shall file with the court or hearing officer an offer of proof showing the caption of the case, the name and present age of the child who has given the statement, the date, time and place of the statement and the name and business address of the camera operator. That party shall give notice of the offer of proof to all other parties, including notice of reasonable opportunity for them to view the statement before the hearing under par. (b).
  - (b) Before the trial or hearing in which the statement is offered and upon notice to all parties, the court or hearing examiner shall conduct a hearing on the statement's admissibility. At or before the hearing, the court shall view the statement. At the hearing, the court or hearing examiner shall rule on objections to the statement's admissibility in whole or in part. If the trial is to be tried by a jury, the court shall enter an order for editing as provided in s. 885.44 (12).
- (3) The court or hearing examiner shall admit the recording upon finding all of the following:
  - (a) That the trial or hearing in which the recording is offered will commence: 1. Before the child's 12th birthday; or

. . .

- (b) That the recording is accurate and free from excision, alteration and visual or audio distortion.
- (c) That the child's statement was made upon oath or affirmation or, if the child's developmental level is inappropriate for the administration of an oath or affirmation in the usual form, upon the child's understanding that false statements are punishable and of the importance of telling the truth.
- (d) That the time, content and circumstances of the statement provide indicia of its trustworthiness.
- (e) That admission of the statement will not unfairly surprise any party or

...this trial will likely come before the child's twelfth birthday. The State submits that the videotape is accurate and free from excision, alteration and visual or audio distortion. A copy is being filed with the Clerk of Court's Office. The interviewer issued an ageappropriate oath to ensure the victim court differentiate between the truth and a lie. The interview was conducted within five (5) days of disclosure, and just over one month after the last date in the charging period. Therefore the time, content and circumstances of the statement provide indicia of its trustworthiness. The defendant's attorney was provided a copy of the videotape on or about August 4, 2016. Clearly there would not be unfair surprise.

(13:1 (A:8)). The State did not allege B.E.H. would be "available" to testify pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 908.08(1) & Wis. Stat. § 908.04(1)(c)<sup>4</sup>,

deprive any party of a fair opportunity to meet allegations made in the statement.

- (5) (a) If the court or hearing examiner admits a recorded statement under this section, the party who has offered the statement into evidence may nonetheless call the child to testify immediately after the statement is shown to the trier of fact. Except as provided in par. (b), if that party does not call the child, the court or hearing examiner, upon request by any other party, shall order that the child be produced immediately following the showing of the statement to the trier of fact for cross-examination.
  - (am) The testimony of a child under par. (a) may be taken in accordance with s. 972.11 (2m), if applicable.

(7) At a trial or hearing under sub. (1), a court or a hearing examiner may also admit into evidence an audiovisual recording of an oral statement of a child that is hearsay and is admissible under this chapter as an exception to the hearsay rule.

(emphasis added)

4 Wis. Stat. § 908.04(1): "Unavailability as a witness' includes situations in which the declarant:

(c) Testifies to a lack of memory of the subject matter of the declarant's statement;...."

or that Boie would have a fair opportunity to meet the allegations made in the statement as required by Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(e).

Boie objected to the video because he would not have a fair opportunity to meet the allegations in the statement. (17:7 (A:16)). Boie anticipated B.E.H. would testify "she doesn't remember or can't recall the specifics of the alleged sexual assaults," or would "refuse to submit to cross-examination," or would "clam-up" on the stand. (*Id.*). Cross-examination is critical, Boie argued, because the allegations in the video are vague. The interview does not disclose what occurred when or where; nor does it allege how many times these alleged incidents occurred. (17:8 (A:17)).

The State did not file a response. In an order dated May 4, 2017 the court granted the state's motion. The court found B.E.H. would be: less than 12 years old at the time of trial; the video is accurate and free from excision, alteration or distortion; the interviewer used age appropriate questions to demonstrate the child understood the importance of telling the truth; there was sufficient indicia of trustworthiness based on the content, circumstances and timing of the interview; and because a copy of the interview was provided to the defense, "there is no undue or unfair *surprise* that would prevent defendant from evaluating and responding to the statement." (emphasis added) (26:1-2). The court did not address whether B.E.H. would be "available" to testify concerning the allegations in the video or whether Boie would have a fair opportunity to meet the allegations made in the statement.

The State sought to play the video during Michelle Harris' testimony. A discussion ensued regarding whether B.E.H. would have to testify immediately after the video was played or whether Harris could continue her testimony first. (192: 193-208). The court noted that once the video is played, the statute required the child to testify "immediately" after the statement is shown to the trier of fact, although immediately did not necessarily mean the same day but "when the trial next resumes." (192:195, 198, 199). Shortly before the video was played the State told the court B.E.H. was "present and available"

without any further elaboration. (192:198, 207). The approximately one-hour video interview was played to the jury. (192:208-244). Court proceedings were then recessed for the day. (192:245).

The next morning, B.E.H. took the stand. The state began with a short direct examination without asking any questions concerning the sexual assault allegations. (204:17). Defense counsel then cross-examined. She began by asking general questions. At one point, she asked B.E.H. if she remembered the video-recorded interview. B.E.H. answered that she did. (192:25). Defense counsel then showed B.E.H. a transcript of the interview and started by asking general questions. Eventually, defense counsel began asking B.E.H. about her "Grandpa Rich." She asked if Grandpa Rich gave her kisses. B.E.H. first answered she didn't remember, then stated he had. (204: 334-35). Defense counsel asked when this happened, and B.E.H. answered:

- A When I was in the middle of it.
- Q Middle of what?
- A When he was doing it.
- Q Doing what?
- A (no response)
- Q I know it's a hard question, but I need you to answer it, B[].

(204:35). B.E.H. then asked if she "could have a minute." The court agreed and B.E.H. left the courtroom. (*Id.*) In a few minutes she was back on the stand. According to B.E.H.'s father, B.E.H. met alone with the prosecutor during this time. Neither parent was permitted to be present. (178:6 (Postconviction Motion, p. 6) (A:29)).

When B.E.H. returned to the stand, her cross-examination continued. She repeatedly and consistently failed to remember any significant details concerning the sexual assault allegations:

- Q When was the last time you were at Grandma Carole's and Grandpa Rich's?
- A I can't remember.

. . . .

Q Okay. And do you know how often you were there in

2015?

- A No.
- Q Do you know how many times you were at grandpa and grandma's, Rich and Carol's house total?
- A No.
- Q Is it because you don't remember?
- A I don't remember.

(204:36-37).

- Q Okay. Now, when I asked you about whether grandpa ever gave you a bear hug or a kiss, and you said I don't remember, then you said he never kissed me except when we were doing it?
- A I kind of forgot--

. . . .

- A I forgot.
- Q I'm sorry. Let me ask that question again. When I said you were doing it, what does that mean, you said I forgot?
- A Yeah. I can't remember right now.
- Q I guess I am a little confused. Can I ask you a couple questions on that?
- A Yes.
- Q You said he only kissed me when we were doing it?
- A Yeah. I can't remember what I said. I can't remember.
- Q But you said when we were doing it, right?
- A Yeah.
- Q You just don't now remember what doing it is?
- A No.
- Q Okay. You have no idea?
- A I forgot.
- Q Did you talk to the DA and your mom?
- A Yes.
- Q About what was happening when you were doing it?
- A No.

(204:37-39).

Q Okay. So when you stayed there, you stayed slept

- upstairs with your dad, right?
- A Yeah.

. . . .

- Q Okay. But when you would sleep in, sometimes did you get up, though, before your dad?
- A No. I would crawl in by my dad.
- Q You would crawl in bed with your dad. Did you ever come down and hop into bed with grandma and grandpa?
- A No, I don't remember.
- Q So could you have and you just don't remember or you know you didn't?
- A I don't remember.
- Q Do you remember laying in bed watching TV with grandma and grandpa?
- A No.

#### (204:40-41).

- Q Okay. I want to go to line 211 [of the video transcript]. Can you see that? Are you ready?
- A Yeah.
- Q Okay. So I want you to think about the very last time that ever happened. Where were you?
- A I was at my grandpa's house.
- Q Tell me about the last time that happened from beginning to the middle to the end?
- A He just turned around.
- Q Do you remember saying that?
- A No.
- Q Do you remember what you meant by he just turned?
- A No.
- Q You have no idea?
- A No.
- Q Okay. I am going to go on from there.
- A Okay.
- Q Uh-hum (indicating yes).
- A And I don't know. He started kissing me, but I didn't like it and I stopped.
- Q Hm, then what happened? And then what happened?
- A And then I just went out of the door.

#### (204:50)

- Q Okay. Do you remember when I started asking you questions?
- A Today?
- Q Yep.
- A I think so.
- Q Yeah. And I asked you if you remember if grandpa ever hugged or kissed you?
- A Yes.
- Q And you said he never kissed except when we were doing it?
- A Yeah.
- Q Okay. So you do remember some things that happened?
- A Some things.
- Q Okay. Got it.
- A Not it all.
- Q So when you said you don't remember saying he kissed me and I didn't like it, but you remembered it earlier when I was asking you, right?
- A A little.

#### (204:51-52)

- Q Okay. Do you remember-- let me ask you this. And I am sorry I have to kind of bring this up again. But you had said he only kisses you when we are doing it, but you don't remember what doing it is?
- A No.
- O Do you remember anything when this is being done?
- A No.
- Q Like who is wearing what clothes, what's happening?
- A No.
- Q Okay. Do you remember what you are wearing?
- A No.
- Q Do you remember what you used to wear to bed when you would go visit by grandma and grandpa's?
- A No.

(204:56-57)

- Q If I asked you what a butt is, would you be able to answer that?
- A No.
- Q You don't know what a butt is?
- A I do. It is a part of your body.
- Q Okay. So when I asked you to answer it-- let me back up. Okay. So what part of the body is the butt?
- A The bottom.
- Q Is it on the front side or the back side?
- A Back.
- Q Do you remember saying that his butt would wiggle?
- A No.
- Q So you don't recall any of that?
- A No.
- Q Okay. And I am sorry to ask you this. But when you are doing it, you don't remember whether someone is wearing clothing or anything?
- A No.

#### (204:57-58)

- Q Do you remember saying a lot of times when Michelle asked you what was he doing and you would say not really good stuff or yucky stuff. Do you remember saying that?
- A No.
- Q Okay. Do you remember telling Michelle that he did certain things with his hands?
- A No.
- Q Do you remember now anything about him doing things with hands?
- A No.
- Q Do you remember him touching your hands with his hands?
- A No.

#### (204:59-60)

- Q Okay. But you are saying he was doing it. Do you know when it started like what year?
- A No.
- Q Okay. And you don't know how many times?

- A Uh-uh (indicating no), no.
- Q No idea?
- A No.
- Q I'm sorry?
- A No.
- Q Okay. So it could be just once?
- A I have no idea.

#### (204:61)

- Q Okay. You don't know how many times this happened?
- A No.
- Q Right? And you don't know for how long it happened, right?
- A Yes, right.

#### (204:62).

The State did not re-direct. Apart from the initial report to Therese Heath and some derivative testimony concerning the interview, the video was the only substantive evidence against Boie.

The jury found Boie guilty as charged. (203:155). On July 11, 2018, the court sentenced Boie to 17 years with 5 years of initial confinement and 12 years of extended supervision. (202:161; 181 (A:1)).

Boie filed a postconviction motion on January 9, 2019. (178 (A:24-33)). The circuit court did not respond to the motion or schedule a hearing. On January 21, 2019, Boie filed a letter asking the court to schedule a hearing. Again, there was no response. On March 12, 2019, the clerk entered an order denying the postconviction motion per Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(i). (184 (A:6-7)). Boie now appeals. (185)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ADMITTED A VIDEO OF COMPLAINANT'S PRIOR TESTIMONY WITHOUT ANY EVIDENCE, ALLEGATION OR FINDING B.E.H. WAS "AVAILABLE" TO TESTIFY, OR THAT BOIE WOULD NOT BE DEPRIVED OF A FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO MEET THE ALLEGATIONS MADE IN THE STATEMENT.

The trial court erroneously exercised its discretion when it misapplied the legal test under Wis. Stat. § 908.08. The court admitted the video without any consideration of, or finding that, the child was "available to testify" pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 908.08(1) and Wis. Stat. § 908.04(1)(c), or that admission of the statement would not deprive Boie "of a fair opportunity to meet allegations made in the statement." (emphasis added). Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(e). (26:1-3 (A:3-5))

Shortly after disclosure police arranged for B.E.H. to be questioned by Michelle Harris, a forensic interviewer with the Chippewa Valley Child Advocacy Center. The interview took place on February 3, 2015 (192:208). Police did not participate directly in the interview but were observing it and providing questions. (191:17; 204:158-159). There is no dispute the interview was video-recorded for the purpose of preserving B.E.H.'s testimony in the event charges were brought and the case went to trial. The State moved to admit the video based solely on Wis. Stat. § 908.08. (13:1 (A:8)).

Admission of a testimonial video is governed by Wis. Stat. § 908.08. *State v. James*, 2005 WI App 188, ¶23, 285 Wis.2d 783, 703 N.W.2d 727 (Wis. Stat. § 908.08 "deals specifically with the admissibility and presentation of videotaped statements by child witnesses" and therefore "controls over...more general statutes regarding the court's authority to control the admission, order, and presentation of evidence."). The purpose of Wis. Stat. § 908.08 is "to permit the evidentiary use of videotapes of children if a variety of

safeguards are followed." *State v. Williquette*, 180 Wis.2d 589, 603, 510 N.W.2d 708 (Ct. App. 1993).

Evidentiary decisions are generally reviewed under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. Discretion is erroneously exercised if an incorrect legal standard is applied. *State v. Tarantino*, 157 Wis.2d 199, 208, 458 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1990); *State v. Plude*, 2008 WI 58, ¶31, 310 Wis. 2d 28, 750 N.W.2d 42. In addition, the application of a legal standard to undisputed facts is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Johns v. County of Oneida*, 201 Wis. 2d 600, 605, 549 N.W.2d 269 (Ct. App. 1996). In this case, the relevant underlying facts are of record and undisputed.

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