RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-15-2019

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP520-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RICHARD A. BOIE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JON M. COUNSELL (TRIAL) AND THOMAS W. CLARK (POSTCONVICTION), PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER R. REMINGTON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1098838

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Boie forfeited his availability challenge to the admissibility of BH's recorded interview by not advancing it in the circuit court.

Boie argued that the circuit court erred when it admitted her forensic interview without first finding that she was (1) available to testify or (2) that the admission of her interview would not deprive Boie of a fair opportunity to meet the allegations made in her statement. (R. 178:2–4.) According to Boie, BH's limited memory rendered her unavailable and left Boie with no fair opportunity to meet the allegations. (R. 178:2–4.)

Boie forfeited that argument when he failed to challenge BH's availability below.

A. Standard of review

Whether a defendant has properly preserved a claim for appellate review is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. See State v. Corey J.G., 215 Wis. 2d 395, 405, 572 N.W.2d 845 (1998).

B. An audiovisual recording of a child's statement is admissible under Wis. Stat. § 908.08

In 1986, the Legislature created a process for the admission of children's recorded statements at trial—Wis. Stat. § 908.08. It did so for specific reasons:

SECTION 1. Legislative purpose. This act is intended to allow children to testify in criminal, juvenile and probation and parole revocation proceedings in a way which minimizes the mental and emotional strain of their participation in those proceedings; to preserve the right to all parties to cross-examine those child witnesses; and to allow the trier of fact to observe the demeanor of those child witnesses while testifying.

1985 Wis. Act. 262 § 1; *State v. Snider*, 2003 WI App 172, ¶ 13, 266 Wis. 2d 830, 668 N.W.2d 784 ("The legislature's purpose in enacting Wis. Stat. § 908.08 was to make it easier, not harder, to employ videotaped statements of children in criminal trials and related hearings.").

Subsection (1) tells a court the proceedings at which it may admit an audiovisual recording: "In any criminal trial or hearing . . . the court or hearing examiner may admit into evidence the audiovisual recording of an oral statement of a child who is available to testify, as provided in this section." Wis. Stat. § 908.08(1); 7 Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Practice Series: Wisconsin Evidence § 808.1 (4th ed. 2018) ("Subsection (1) limits the use of this exception to criminal trials and hearings, juvenile fact-finding hearings, and probation and parole revocation hearings.")

Subsection (2) describes the notice and hearing requirements for admission:

(2)

- (a) Not less than 10 days before trial or hearing, or such later time as the court or hearing examiner permits upon cause shown, the party offering the statement shall file with the court or hearing officer an offer of proof showing the caption of the case, the name and present age of the child who has given the statement, the date, time and place of the statement and the name of the business address of the camera operator. That party shall give notice of the offer of proof to all other parties, including notice of reasonable opportunity for them to view the statement before the hearing under par. (b).
- (b) Before the trial or hearing in which the statement is offered and upon notice to all parties, the court or hearing examiner shall conduct a hearing on the statement's admissibility. At or before the hearing,

the court shall view the statement. At the hearing, the court or hearing examiner shall rule on objections to the statement's admissibility in whole or in part. If the trial is to be tried by a jury, the court shall enter an order for editing as provided in s. 885.44(12).

Wis. Stat. § 908.08(2)(a)–(b).

Subsection (3) provides five specific prerequisites for admission:

- (3) The court or hearing examiner shall admit the recording upon finding of all the following:
- (a) That the trial or hearing in which the recording is offered will commence:
- 1. Before the child's 12th birthday; or
- 2. Before the child's 16th birthday and the interests of justice warrant its admission under sub. (4).
- (b) That the recording is accurate and free from excision, alteration and visual or audio distortion.
- (c) That the child's statement was made upon oath or affirmation or, if the child's developmental level is inappropriate for the administration of an oath or affirmation in the usual form, upon the child's understanding that false statements are punishable and of the importance of telling the truth.
- (d) That the time, content and circumstances of the statement provide indicia of its trustworthiness.
- (e) That admission of the statement will not unfairly surprise any party of deprive any party of a fair opportunity to meet allegations made in statement.

Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(a)–(e).

Subsection (5) outlines how the recording is admitted alongside the child's testimony:

(5)(a) If the court or hearing examiner admits a recorded statement under this section, the party who has offered the statement into evidence may nonetheless call the child to testify immediately after

the statement is shown to the trier of fact. Except as provided in par. (b), if that party does not call the child, the court or hearing examiner, upon request by any other party, shall order that the child be produced immediately following the showing of the statement to the trier of fact for cross-examination.

Wis. Stat. § 908.08(5)(a). In other words, if the State offers the recording, it must play the recording first. "[I]mmediately after," the State "may" call the child for further testimony. Wis. Stat. § 908.08(5)(a). But the State is not required to call the child for further testimony.

If the State does not call the child for further testimony, the defense may then request that the child be "produced immediately following the showing of the statement to the trier of fact for cross-examination." Wis. Stat. § 908.08(5)(a). "[U]pon request," the court "shall order" that the child "be produced" for cross-examination. Wis. Stat. § 908.08(5)(a).

As Professor Daniel Blinka points out, section 908.08 does not "address what procedure should be followed where the child either 'refuses' to testify or has forgotten the subject matter of the statement." 7 Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Practice Series: Wisconsin Evidence § 808.1 (4th ed. 2018). He suggests that "the best course is to interpret this rule in accordance with the case law interpreting Wis. Stat. § 908.01(4), where the witness' forgetfulness (or recalcitrance) is a matter going to the weight of the evidence." 7 Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Practice Series: Wisconsin Evidence § 808.1 (4th ed. 2018); see also Wis. JI-Criminal 300 (2000) (instructing the jury to consider "the clearness of lack of clearness of the witness' recollection" when "determining the credibility of each witness and the weight [to] give to the testimony of each witness").

C. A defendant forfeits appellate review of an alleged error if he does not object to it.

"It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that issues must be preserved at the circuit court." State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727; see also United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725 (1993) ("No procedural principal is more familiar to this Court than that a constitutional right . . . may be forfeited in criminal as well as civil cases by the failure to make a timely assertion of the right before a tribunal having jurisdiction to determine it." Id. at 731 (quoting Yakus v. United States, 321 U.S. 414, 444, (1944))).

"Issues that are not preserved at the circuit court, even alleged constitutional errors, generally will not be considered on appeal." Huebner, 235 Wis. 2d 486, ¶ 10. "The party who raises an issue on appeal bears the burden of showing that the issue was raised before the circuit court." Id.

The forfeiture rule is "not merely a technicality or a rule of convenience." *Huebner*, 235 Wis. 2d 486, ¶ 11. It is "essential" to the "orderly administration of justice." *Id.* "The rule promotes both efficiency and fairness, and 'go[es] to the heart of the common law tradition and the adversary system." *Id.* ¶ 11 (alteration in original) (quoting *State v. Caban*, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604–05, 563 N.W.2d 501 (1997)).

The rule also "serves several important objectives." Huebner, 235 Wis. 2d 486, ¶ 12. First, "[r]aising issues at the trial court level allows the trial court to correct or avoid the alleged error in the first place, eliminating the need for appeal." Id. Second, it "gives both parties and the trial judge notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection." Id. Third, it "encourages attorneys to diligently prepare for and conduct trials." Id. Finally, it "prevents attorneys from 'sandbagging' errors, or failing to object to an

error for strategic reasons and later claiming that the error is grounds for reversal." *Id*.

For the reasons below, Boie forfeited his claim when he failed to raise it in the circuit court.

D. Boie forfeited his claim when he failed to raise it below.

In the circuit court, Boie received ample opportunities to preserve his claim that BH's recorded interview was inadmissible because she was unavailable to testify. He availed himself of none.

First, the circuit court asked for Boie's response to the State's motion to admit the recording at the hearing. (R. 199:29.) Boie made many arguments, none challenging BH's availability at trial.

On the contrary, Boie, through counsel, made several references indicating that BH would be available for questioning at trial:

- "The jury is going to hear what this victim is going to say regarding what happened to her years ago. Now the fact that, yes, her memory is not going to be the best because of her age, because of the time delay. And that is understandable. That can happen with an offense that occurred six months before with an adult." (R. 199:34–35):
- "Because [her school records] are relevant when she is cross-examined since she is going to have to testify." (R. 199:13).

The circuit court also referenced the fact that BH would be available for questioning: "She will be right here. You can ask her all the questions you wish." (R. 199:32.)

Second, the circuit court gave Boie the opportunity to file a written response, and Boie responded, arguing that the video could not be admitted under section 908.08. (R. 17:1.) Notably, Boie did not identify "availability" as a statutory prerequisite to admission:

- 4. Wis. Stat. §908.03(3) requires the Court to find all of the following factors in order to admit the recording:
 - (a) The statement was made before the child's 12th birthday;

17-1

- (b) The recording is accurate and free from excision, alteration and visual or audio distortion;
- (c) The child's statement was made upon oath or affirmation or, if the child's developmental level is inappropriate for the administration of an oath or affirmation in the usual form, upon the child's understanding that false statements are punishable and of the importance of telling the truth;
- (d) The time, content and circumstances of the statement provide indicia of its trustworthiness; and
- (e) The admission of the statement will not unfairly surprise any party or deprive any party of a fair opportunity to meet allegations made in the statement.

(R. 17:1–2.) Nor did Boie question—much less challenge—BH's availability.

At best, Boie expressed concern that because BH may not remember "the specifics" of the assaults due to the passage of time, he might not be "able to fairly and effectively cross examine" her.⁴ (R. 17:7.) But "[t]o preserve an alleged error for review, 'trial counsel or the party must object in a

⁴ But see State v. Rockette, 2006 WI App 103, ¶ 22, 294 Wis. 2d 611, 718 N.W.2d 269 ("[T]he Confrontation Clause guarantees an opportunity for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extend, the defense might wish. The Confrontation Clause does not guarantee that a witness's testimony will not be 'marred by forgetfulness, confusion, or evasion." (citations omitted) (quoting Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20−22 (1985)).

timely fashion *with specificity* to allow the court and counsel to review the objection and correct any potential error." *State v. Torkelson*, 2007 WI App 272, ¶ 25, 306 Wis. 2d 673, 743 N.W.2d 511 (emphasis added) (quoting *State v. Nielsen*, 2001 WI App 192, ¶ 11, 247 Wis. 2d 466, 634 N.W.2d 325)). Boie did not specifically challenge BH's availability.

In sum, Boie forfeited his claim when he did not question BH's availability pretrial or move for a mistrial after BH testified. Because Boie forfeited his claim, it must be analyzed through the ineffective assistance of counsel rubric.

II. The circuit court properly denied Boie's ineffective assistance of counsel claim without a hearing.

A. Standard of review

A circuit court may deny a postconviction motion without a hearing if the motion fails to raise facts sufficient to entitle the movant to relief, the movant presents only conclusory allegations, or the record conclusively shows that the movant is not entitled to relief. $State\ v.\ Sulla$, 2016 WI 46, \P 27, 369 Wis. 2d 225, 880 N.W.2d 659. A court reviews $de\ novo$ whether a defendant's postconviction motion clears those three prongs. $Id.\ \P$ 23. If the motion fails one or more of those prongs, a circuit court has discretion to grant or deny a hearing. Id. If a hearing was not required, a court reviews a decision granting or denying a hearing under the "deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard." Id. (citation omitted).

B. A defendant must make two showings to succeed on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim: deficient performance and prejudice.

Both the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant "the right to effective assistance of counsel." *State v. Lemberger*, 2017 WI 39, ¶ 16, 374 Wis. 2d 617, 893 N.W.2d 232 (citation omitted); U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 7. Accordingly, a defendant may raise a constitutional challenge to counsel's effectiveness.

To succeed on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must make two showings. "First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). "Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." *Id*.

1. Deficient performance

"The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686. Thus, "[w]hen a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Id.* at 687–88.

A defendant fails to make that showing if he simply complains "that his counsel was imperfect or less than ideal." *State v. Burton*, 2013 WI 61, ¶ 48, 349 Wis. 2d 1, 832 N.W.2d 611 (citation omitted). In fact, "[c]ounsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted). To make the requisite showing, a defendant must point to specific acts or omissions of counsel that fall "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690.

Adding to this tough burden is the highly deferential posture courts take when examining counsel's performance. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689 ("Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential."). This deferential posture requires that "counsel [is] 'strongly presumed to have rendered' adequate assistance within the bounds of reasonably professional judgment." *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 25, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690).

Relevant here, "ineffective assistance of counsel cases should be limited to situations where the law or duty is clear." *State v. Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 49, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93 (quoting *Lemberger*, 374 Wis. 2d 617, ¶ 33). As a general rule, "[c]ounsel's failure to raise [a] novel argument does not render his performance constitutionally ineffective." *Lemberger*, 374 Wis. 2d 617, ¶ 18 (alterations in original) (quoting *Basham v. United States*, 811 F.3d 1026, 1029 (8th Cir. 2016)).

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